IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

ERIC LAW AND KRISTINA LAW

APPELLEE

VS.

NO.2009-CA-01611

THE CITY OF JACKSON CITY OF JACKSON POLICE DEPARTMENT ADRIAN MAY

APPELLANTS

On Appeal From the Circuit Court Of Hinds County, Mississippi Cause Number 251-07-893 Honorable Swan Yerger

Brief of Appellant City of Jackson

Oral Argument Requested

PIETER TEEUWISSEN, CITY ATTORNEY KIMBERLY BANKS, DEPUTY CITY ATTORNEY

OFFICE OF THE CITY ATTORNEY CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 455 East Capitol Street Post Office Box 2779 Jackson, Mississippi 39207 Telephone: (601) 960-1799

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANTS

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

ERIC LAW AND KRISTINA LAW

APPELLEES NO.2009-CA-01611 APPELLANTS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The issues that this Court should resolve on appeal are:

÷

- I. The lower court erred when it found that Officer Adrian May acted with reckless disregard on June 11, 2006.
- II. Alternatively, the court erred in determining that Officer May's actions were a proximate contributing cause.
 - a. The lower court erred when it found that Carol Dearman was only 60% at fault.
 - b. The lower court erred when it found that Eric Law was not contributory negligent in his actions on June 11, 2006.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Because this appeal presents issues which are fact intensive, the City of Jackson respectfully requests oral argument. Further, it appears that clarification on the analysis of *Brister* and its progeny is necessary. This Court's decision will have a far reaching public policy and economic impact on Mississippi law enforcement; therefore, the City of Jackson respectfully requests oral argument.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. PROCEEDINGS BELOW

This action was filed on September 18, 2007 against the City of Jackson, City of Jackson Police Department, and Jackson Police officer Adrian May ("Officer May") in his official capacity. R.at 3. This cause of action arises from a motor vehicle accident wherein Plaintiffs' vehicle was hit by Carol Dearman ("Dearman"), who was operating a stolen vehicle in the City of Jackson. R.at 7. Plaintiffs allege that as a proximate result of Officer May's reckless actions, Plaintiffs Eric and Kristina Law were injured. The City of Jackson filed its Answer and Affirmative Defenses, Motion to Dismiss of Defendant Jackson Police Department, and Motion to Strike on October 12, 2007. R. at 16.

This case followed the standard pre-trial procedure with one notable exception. Defendant City of Jackson propounded its first set of Interrogatories, Request for Production and Request for Admission on November 9, 2007. Plaintiffs did not timely file their Responses to Defendants Request for Admissions. Accordingly the Answers were deemed admitted. M.R.C.P. 36(b). Notwithstanding Plaintiffs failure to proffer any good cause for failing to timely answer the Request for Admissions, the City of Jackson agreed to accept Plaintiffs out of time Admissions. R. at 33. Thereafter, on December 11, 2008, an Agreed Order setting the matter for trial was entered. R. at 34.

On June 1-2, 2009, the Honorable Swan Yerger conducted a bench trial in this matter. The court entered its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Final

Judgment on September 3, 2009. R. at 39, 61. The lower court concluded that on June 11, 2006, Officer May, while acting in the course and scope of his employment, engaged in a seven mile pursuit of Carol Dearman. R. at 37. The lower court further concluded that Officer May acted in reckless disregard, "which negligence was a proximate contributing cause of the accident between Dearman and the Plaintiffs." *Id.* The lower court concluded that neither Eric or Kristina Law were contributory negligent and that the City of Jackson was 40% at fault, and assigned 60% fault to Carol Dearman. *Id.*

The City of Jackson timely filed its appeal from this adverse judgment. R. at 64.

B. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Dearman was in possession of and driving a stolen Jeep Cherokee on Sunday June 11, 2006 in the City of Jackson. T.T. at 8. A BOLO (be on the lookout) went out over the dispatch radio for a stolen gray Jeep at the start of Officer May's shift. T.T. at 112. Officer May spotted Dearman on June 11, 2006 at approximately 5:45 p.m. in the Winter Street/Terry Road area driving a stolen gray Jeep. T.T. at 110-111. Officer May identified Dearman as a known drug user and prostitute in the area. T.T. at 12. Officer May also knew that Dearman did not have a driver's license and no fixed or permanent residence. T.T. at 14, 92. Officer May knew Dearman used an address in Copiah County, but Dearman did not live at that address. *Id.* After Officer May identified Dearman in a new model gray Jeep in a high crime area, he chirped his siren in attempt to stop Dearman. T.T. at 14-15. Dearman did not yield so Officer May engaged his blue lights and siren to attempt to pull Carol Dearman over. T.T. at 15. Dearman did not yield to Officer May's blue lights and sirens. T.T. at 16. Officer May

then pursued Dearman in an attempt to pull her over while traveling no more than 50 miles per hour on non-busy City streets and 70 miles per hour on a short section of I-55. T.T. at 81-82. Shortly into the pursuit of Dearman, Officer May received confirmation on Gallatin Street that the gray Jeep Dearman was driving was stolen. T.T. at 48. As detailed herein, the pursuit was uneventful until reaching South Jackson.

Shortly after exiting I-55 South, Dearman entered a residential neighborhood in South Jackson and began to increase her vehicle speed and increase in distance from Officer May. T.T. at 107. Officer May then decided to decrease his speed at this point, and terminate pursuing the stolen Jeep because Dearman entered a residential neighborhood, picked up speed, and Officer May was not familiar with the neighborhood. T.T. at 107-109. Officer May continued to canvass the neighborhood but lost sight of the stolen Jeep in the South Jackson neighborhood approximately one mile or more before Dearman collided with the Law's vehicle. T.T. at 112. The stolen Jeep was last seen by Officer May when Dearman made a left onto Woody Drive. T.T. at 109. At all times relevant to the pursuit on June 11, 2006, the traffic on the roads were light to none, there were no near misses on the road with pedestrians or other vehicles, the area was mostly commercial, and the weather conditions were clear and sunny. T.T. at 103-106. The collision between Dearman and the Laws was at the intersection of McFadden and McDowell Roads. T.T. at 27. Officer May was not present at the time of the collision, nor was he the first Jackson police officer on scene. T.T. at 94.

Jackson Police Officer Kevin Nash ("Officer Nash") heard the radio transmissions of Officer May, specifically that a pursuit was entering his Precinct. T.T. at 450. Officer Nash proceeded south on McDowell Road at approximately two to five miles per hour with his blue lights engaged. *Id.* Officer Nash engaged his blue lights to warn the public of the pursuit, specifically Nash testified that he was at the intersection of McDowell and McFadden Roads to try to make traffic come to a standstill. T.T. at 459. Officer Nash was traveling in the direction facing the vehicle in which Eric Law was the driver. T.T. at 453. At the same time, Jacqueline Johnson and Nicolas Thomas were also traveling in the same direction as the Law vehicle on McDowell Road. *Id.*

Jacqueline Johnson and Nicolas Thomas were stopped at the intersection of McDowell Road and McFadden Road at a red light. T.T. at 407. Jacqueline Johnson was the driver of a Dodge Caravan van, in which Nicolas Thomas was a passenger. T.T. at 438. They both saw Officer Nash approaching them with his blue lights engaged doing approximately two to five miles per hour. T.T. at 407, 440. When the traffic light at McDowell and McFadden Road turned green, Jacqueline Johnson did not accelerate, instead she took caution because of Officer Nash's slow speed and flashing lights. T.T. at 422. Although Jacqueline Johnson did not proceed through the intersection, Eric Law turned in front of Officer Nash's patrol car with its blue lights activated and was hit by Dearman's vehicle. T. T. at 454. Witnesses Jacqueline Johnson and Nicolas Thomas testified that they did not see another patrol car, come from the direction of Monticello Drive until 4-5 minutes after the accident between Dearman and the Law vehicle. T.T. at 408, 431.

Dearman was subsequently indicted and plead guilty to aggravated assault for the automobile accident on June 11, 2006, and sentenced to twenty (20) years in the Mississippi Department of Corrections. *Defendants Exhibit 3*, admitted for Identification. Dearman never offered testimony via deposition or trial, so the trial court did not have any evidence of Dearman's state of mind as basis for her actions at any time on June 11, 2006.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The circuit court erred in determining that, "Adrian May was found to be acting with reckless disregard, which negligence was a proximate contributing cause of the accident between Dearman and the Plaintiffs." R. at 37. Pursuant to *Ogburn v. City of Wiggins*, 919 So.2d 85 (Miss.Ct.App.2005), Plaintiffs must prove that the officer acted in reckless disregard **and** establish that the officer's actions were the proximate cause of the accident. *Id.* (Emphasis added).

The lower court erred when it found that Officer May acted with reckless disregard. Specifically, the lower court found that the facts in the instant matter were similar with the facts in *Brister v. City of Jackson*, 838 So.2d 274 (Miss.2003). R. at 33, 250. As explained *infra*, *Brister* is distinguishable on every factor. Thus, because the trial court mis-applied the *Brister* factors, its judgment is in error. *Id*.

In the alternative, the circuit court erred in determining proximate cause. Specifically, if Officer May is the proximate contributing cause, the impact must be the result of an unbroken chain of events with a clearly definable beginning and ending, occurring in a continuous sequence. *Mitchell v. United Services Auto Ass'n of San Antonio, Texas*, 831 So.2d 1144, 1152. Officer May testified that he lost visual of

÷

Dearman and turned off his blue lights and sirens approximately one mile before Dearman collided with the Law's vehicle. T.T. at 96. Moreover, Chief Mark Dunston, Defendant's expert, is the only witness who testified to proximate cause. T.T. at 528-529. Chief Dunston opined that Officer May was not the proximate cause of the accident between the Laws and Dearman on June 11, 2006. T.T. at 528-529.

In addition, the lower court erred in finding that Eric Law's actions did not amount to contributory negligence. R. at 37. Eric Law testified that he does not remember anything prior to the accident. T.T. at 328. Appellee Kristina Law testified that the last thing she remembered seeing was the light at the intersection of McFadden and McDowell Road that was red ahead of their vehicle. T. T. at 391. Three eye witnesses to the accident; Officer Nash, Jacqueline Johnson, and Nicolas Thomas all testified that Eric Law's actions were a proximate contributing cause to the accident.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This action is governed by the Mississippi Tort Claims Act, which controls civil actions against a municipality. The Mississippi Tort Claims Act shields political subdivisions from civil liability. The Mississippi Supreme Court recently stated that immunity is a question of law. *City of Laurel v. Williams*, No.2008-CA-01137-SCT (*citing Miss.Dep't of Pub. Safety v. Durn*, 861 So.2d 990, 994 (Miss.2003)). The Supreme Court further stated that "[t]his Court reviews errors of law *de novo*, including the proper application of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act." Id. (quoting *Phillips v. Miss. Dep't of Pub. Safety*, 978 So.2d 656, 660 (Miss.2008)). As such, an appellate court reviews the trial judge's application of the Tort Claims Act *de novo*.

Actions brought under the Mississippi Tort Claims Act against a municipality require a bench trial with the circuit judge sitting as finder of fact. *Ezell v. Williams*, 724 So.2d 396 (Miss.1998). A trial judge's findings are safe on appeal if they are supported by substantial, credible, and reasonable evidence. *Brister*, 838 So.2d at 278. In the case presently before the Court, the trial judge's findings are not based on substantial, credible, and reasonable evidence and should be overturned on appeal.

ARGUMENT

I. The lower court erred when it found that Officer Adrian May acted with reckless disregard on June 11, 2006.

The lower court found that Officer May acted with reckless disregard, finding that the case *sub judice* aligns with the facts in *Brister*. R. at 33, 50. The lower court examined the length of the pursuit, the conditions of the roads, the seriousness of the suspect's offense, the experience and training of the officer, and whether an applicable pursuit policy was followed. R. at 54. The facts in the case at bar do not align with the facts in *Brister* and are not supported by substantial, credible and reasonable evidence in the record.

Before examining *Brister*, one must first turn to the statute whereby municipalities are liable for the actions of its police officers while in the course and scope of employment. Pursuant to Miss. Code Ann.§ 11-46-9:

- (1) A governmental entity and its employees acting within the course and scope of their employment or duties shall not be liable for any claim:
 - (c) Arising out of any act or omission of an employee of a governmental entity engaged in the performance or execution of duties or activities relating to police and fire protection **unless the employee acted in reckless disregard of the safety and well being of any person not engaged in criminal activity** at the time of injury.

(Emphasis supplied)

Miss Code. Ann.§ 11-46-9.

This Court has stated that "apparent in the language of Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-9 is that those officers who act within the course and scope of their employment, while engaged in the performance of duties relating to police protection, without reckless disregard for the safety and well being of others, will be entitled to immunity." McGarth v. City of Gautier, 794 So.2d 983, 985 (Miss.2001). Mississippi courts have held reckless disregard embraces willful or wanton conduct which requires knowingly and intentionally doing a thing or wrongful act. Kelley v. Grenada County, 859 So.2d 1049 (Miss.2003). The MTCA states that for liability to attach against a municipality, a police officer **has to act** with reckless disregard. Reckless disregard is a higher standard than gross negligence, and certainly a higher standard than negligence. Id. Moreover, this Court recently handed down an opinion in which it held that "reckless disregard is the 'entire abandonment of any care,' while negligence is the failure to exercise due care." Rayner v. Pennington, 25 So.3d 305, 309 (Miss.2010), (citing Maldonado v. Kelly, 768 So. 2d. 906, 910 (Miss. 2000); Turner v. City of Ruleville, 735 So.2d 226 (Miss.1996)).

In *Brister*, the first case in Mississippi to establish that a law enforcement pursuit could result in civil liability, the Plaintiff's expert concluded that the officers conduct was extreme and unreasonably dangerous to the public. *Brister*, 838 So.2d at 279. However, there are major distinctions between the case presently before the Court and *Brister*, thereby reflecting the lower court's analysis and ruling was in error.

In Brister:

- (a) the officer driving the City of Jackson patrol car, was a rookie who was on the force thirty (30) days, and involved in his first pursuit;
- (b) the officers did not know the speed they were traveling during the pursuit, and the suspect driver in Brister was traveling at speeds of up to 70 or 80 mph in a 35 mph zone; and
- (c) the officers in Brister drove through red lights;
- (d) the expert testified that the pursuit should have been terminated after the officers turned onto Ridgewood Road in mid day during the week in an extremely populated residential area;
- (e) the officers were still engaged in active pursuit up to the collision (eye witnesses place them within twenty (20) yards behind the suspect's car at the time of collision);
- (f) there was testimony that the officers never should have initiated this high speed pursuit; and
- (g) the officers in Brister did not properly balance the public's safety versus the immediate apprehension of a check forger.
 - Id.

The City of Jackson recognizes that there is a subsequent case after *Brister* where the *Brister* factors are discussed, namely *Johnson v. City of Cleveland*, 846 So.2d 1031 (Miss.2003). However, as the trial court's analysis revolves around *Brister*, this is where the City will confine its argument.

a. Officer May was not a rookie involved in his first police pursuit.

Officer May was not a rookie with only 30 days on the force as the officer in *Brister* was. *Brister*, 838 So.2d at 280. Officer May attended the 16 week training academy at the City of Jackson Training Academy. T.T. at 6. In addition, after graduating from the academy, Officer May was assigned a ride along training officer for ninety (90) days. T.T. at 6. At the time of the pursuit with Dearman, Officer May

had been on the Jackson police force for more than a year and a half assigned to Precinct 2, a high crime area with drugs, prostitutes, and gun fights. T.T. at 6-7.

b. Officer May knew the speed he was traveling during the pursuit and Dearman did not get to the excess speeds the suspect vehicle in *Brister* was traveling.

Another factor distinguishable in the case at bar from *Brister* is the officers in *Brister* did not know the speed they were traveling during the pursuit while the suspect driver in *Brister* was traveling at speeds up to 70 or 80 mph in a 35 mph zone during the pursuit. *Brister*, 838 So.2d at 277,280. In the instant matter, Officer May was in constant radio communication reporting his speed and location over the radio to his supervisor, Sgt. Campbell. T.T. at 47. When Officer May first attempted to stop Dearman on Winter Street, the speed limit was 25 mph and Officer May testified that Dearman was traveling around 30 mph. T.T. at 81. When Dearman got on Gallatin Street, Officer May testified that the speed limit is 40 mph and Dearman was traveling around 50 mph on Gallatin. *Id.* As Dearman and Officer May traveled on McDowell Road, Dearman was traveling around 35 mph in a 35 mph zone. T.T. at 82. As Dearman turned onto I-55 South, Officer May testified that Dearman was traveling around 35 mph in a 70 mph zone. *Id.*

Officer May testified that Dearman began to unreasonably increase speed when she turned onto Dona Avenue where the speed limit is 35 mph. T.T. at 107. Officer May testified that when Dearman began to increase speed on Dona Avenue, he evaluated this as a factor and decided to decrease his speed and allow far greater

distance between the two vehicles. T.T. at 107-108. In the case at bar, Dearman did not travel at speeds of 70 to 80 mph in a 35 mph zone during the pursuit and thereforethis is another distinguishing factor from *Brister*.

c. The suspect driver in *Brister* was driving recklessly at the initiation of the pursuit.

At the beginning of the *Brister* pursuit, the suspect squealed out of the parking lot in her car and jumped over the walkway nearly hitting the patrol car in the process. *Brister*, 838 So.2d at 277. Those facts are clearly distinguishable from the case *sub judice*. After Officer May attempted to stop Dearman at the intersection on Evergreen and Peabody, there is no evidence in the record that Dearman had any near misses with any pedestrians or vehicles during the entire pursuit route. T.T. at 99, 101, 105. While Dearman failed to yield to Officer May, he testified that the only time during the pursuit that Dearman was driving recklessly was on I-55, because she was switching lanes and looked as if she did not know what exit to take, and when she entered the South Jackson neighborhood and began to pick up speed. T.T. at 105, 107.

In addition, as stated *supra* the officers in Brister ran a red light at the heavily populated intersection of Ridgewood Road and Old Canton Road. *Brister*, 838 So.2d at 277. Officer May testified in this matter that to his knowledge Dearman did not run a red light. T.T. at 107. In fact, at the intersection of Cooper and Terry Roads, Dearman slowed down at a traffic light, there was no traffic coming and she made a left turn. *Id*.

The conditions of the road, traffic, time of day and character of surrounding area are factually distinguishable from *Brister*.

13

d.

The expert in *Brister*, testified that the pursuit should have been terminated after the officers turned onto Ridgewood Road in mid-day during the week in an extremely populated residential area. *Brister*, 838 So.2d at 279. The *Brister* pursuit route was through a densely populated area that included schools and a park. *Id.* at 280. Officer May pursued Dearman at approximately 5:00 p.m. on a Sunday through city traffic that was little to none, through mostly commercial areas, with a small segment of the pursuit on the interstate, specifically I-55 South. T.T. at 100, 101, 102, 105.

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