### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

ERIC LAW AND KRISTINA LAW

PLAINTIFFS/APPELLEES

VS.

NO. 2009-CA-01611

THE CITY OF JACKSON CITY OF JACKSON POLICE DEPARTMENT ADRIAN MAY

**DEFENDANTS/APPELLANTS** 

Civil Appeal from the Circuit Court of Hinds County, Mississippi; Civil Action No. 251-07-893 Honorable Swan Yerger

BRIEF OF APPELLEES, ERIC AND KRISTINA LAW

Barfield & Associates,
Attorneys at Law, P. A.
WES W. PETERS (MSB
121 Village Boulevard
Madison, Mississippi 39110
Telephone: (601) 856-6411
Facsimile: (601) 856-6441

Attorney for Eric and Kristina Law, Appellees

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

### ERIC LAW AND KRISTINA LAW

PLAINTIFFS/APPELLEES

VS.

I.	STATEMENT OF THE FACTS		
II.	SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT		
III.	ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES		
	A.	The Trial Court Applied the Appropriate Standard and Recent Case Law and Based Its Opinion on Substantial Credible Evidence in the Record	
	В.	Appellant's Proximate Cause Argument Lacks Authority, Consistency and Support From the Facts in the Record	
IV.	CON	CONCLUSION	

### I. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

After reading Appellant's Brief, one may get the picture that this case involved the pursuit of someone who was a serious and imminent danger to the public, through the deserted streets of a ghost town, at speeds barely above the speed limit. One may also believe that the chase ended five minutes before the accident occurred. However, the facts in the record provide a completely different version of what occurred. To say it legally, there is substantial evidence in the record to indicate otherwise.<sup>1</sup>

To begin, the participants in the subject pursuit were Officer Adrian May of the Jackson Police Department and Carol Dearman.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> It is unknown where Appellant obtained some of its facts. Appellant has the pursuit beginning at 5:45. (Appellants' Brief at p. 4) However, Appellant's own records show that not only had the pursuit begun, but it was over 30 minutes prior to that; and there is nothing in the record suggesting that it began at 5:45. (Plaintiffs' Ex. 7 & 15) Appellant also has Officer Nash proceeding South on McDowell. (Appellant's Brief at p. 6). However, McDowell Road runs East and West; and Officer Nash was heading West on McDowell. (Plaintiffs' Ex. 1; R. Vol. 4 p. 450) Additionally, because the wreck did not occur until the chase was in its seventh mile, Appellant characterizes the first six miles as "uneventful" (Appellant's Brief at p. 5) Also, the audio tape of the pursuit clearly shows that it is less than 30 seconds between the time you last hear Officer May's siren on Monticello and the time he request an ambulance due to the accident. (Plaintiff's Ex. 3; R. Vol. 2 p. 136-162) However, Appellant simply ignores this evidence and relies on people guessing that it may have been 5 minutes between the accident and the first time they saw Officer May at the scene, to suggest that the chase was over five minutes before the accident happened. Appellant even suggests that a distinguishing factor between this case and the case of Brister v. City of Jackson, 838 So.2d 274 (Miss. 2003) is that the Officers actually ran stop lights in Brister. (Appellant's Brief at p. 11) However, Officer May admitted running at least 3 stop lights in this case. (R.Vol. 2 p. 56-60,64, 70, 76) Appellant even goes so far as to suggest that Officer May terminated the pursuit when he first entered the neighborhood in South Jackson. (Appellant's Brief at p. 5 & 24) However, not only does the audio tape make clear that Officer May still had his siren going for several streets after that point, but Officer May admitted that both he and Ms. Dearman ran another stop light after that point; and everybody, even Appellant's expert, agrees that Officer May never terminated the pursuit in the manner dictated by the City of Jackson's pursuit policy. (Plaintiff Ex. 3; R. Vol. 2 p. 76; R. Vol. 5 p. 521, 530) In sum, simply because Appellant recites a fact in its Brief does not mean that fact is supported by the record or that the record may not also contain proof to the contrary.

Interestingly, the two knew each other. Officer May testified that he had seen Ms. Dearman in his precinct so many times that seeing her was like seeing family. (R. Vol. 2 p. 12, 62-66, 123) Based upon her conduct, Officer May perceived Ms. Dearman to be a prostitute and drug user. (R. Vol. 2 p. 12) Officer May had stopped and actually talked to Ms. Dearman on numerous occasions, and he had filled out an interview card on her. (R. Vol. 2 p. 62) Officer May even knew that Ms. Dearman did not have a valid driver's license; and he knew which beats within the precinct she most often frequented. (R. Vol. 2 p. 13 & 62) However, Officer May never had cause to arrest Mr. Dearman for outstanding warrants or for any other reason. (R. Vol. 2 p. 65-66) Officer May testified that he perceived Ms. Dearman to be a danger to herself. However, Ms. Dearman never posed even the remotest danger to the public. (R. Vol. 2 p. 65-66)

Officer May was 28 years old, and he had been on the force for 18 months at the time of the incident. (R. Vol. 2 p. 6-7) Before that, Officer May was a carpenter. (R. Vol. 2 p. 6) Officer May was familiar with the fact that the Jackson Police Department had a written vehicular pursuit policy. However, Officer May testified that the policy was kind of "boggy" to him. (R. Vol. 2 p.79) In fact, the Jackson Police Department has a pursuit policy which recognizes that there are several devices and tactics which can be used in a pursuit to actually stop or apprehend a fleeing suspect. (Plaintiffs' Ex. 4; R. Vol. 2 p.136-241) However, Officer May had not been trained in any of those tactics or devices; and it was his understanding that he was not supposed to try to use any of those tactics or devices to attempt to actually stop a fleeing suspect. (R. Vol. 2 p.55-56)

On June 11, 2006, Officer May saw Ms. Dearman with a male passenger in a new model Grey Jeep Cherokee at the corner of Terry Road and Evergreen Street. This area is basically an intersection of a neighborhood and major street on the outskirts of downtown Jackson. (Plaintiffs'

Ex. 1 & 5; R. Vol. 2 p.10-12) According to Officer May, Ms. Dearman was driving carefully, and she even stopped at the next stop sign. (R. Vol. 2 p.17) However, because Ms. Dearman was in a new looking jeep, Officer May decided to try to stop her. (R. Vol. 2 p.15) Officer May turned on his lights, then he chirped his siren. However, Ms. Dearman did not pull over. (R. Vol. 2 p.15-17) By the time they got to the third street in the neighborhood, Winter Street, Officer May had his lights and siren fully activated, he alerted dispatch that he had a vehicle that was not going to stop and he called in the vehicle's tag number. (Plaintiffs' Ex.1, 3 & 5; R. Vol. 2 p.17-18)

Officer May and Ms. Dearman exited the neighborhood South onto Gallatin. Once on Gallatin, they next proceeded through the traffic controlled intersections of Gallatin and Rankin, then Gallatin and Highway 80. (Plaintiffs Ex. 1 & 5; R. Vol. 2 p. 56) After they crossed the traffic controlled intersection of Gallatin and Highway 80, but before they reached the ramps connecting Gallatin with Interstate 20, you can hear Officer May say that they are going about 50 miles per hour.<sup>2</sup> (Plaintiffs' Ex. 3; R. Vol. 2 p. 46) Obviously, this would have to mean that they either did not slow down much for the traffic controlled intersection of Gallatin and Highway 80, or they basically "floored it" through this area when they got through that intersection. In this regard, Officer May admitted that there were convenience stores in this area which are open on Sunday and whose driveways directly abut Gallatin, not to mention the fact that they are about to intersect with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The communications during the pursuit were recorded. Appellant seems to suggest that Officer May was reporting his speed continuously through each new street. However, all one has to do is listen to the tape to realize that he was not. (Plaintiff's Ex. 3) The speeds that Officer May offered at trial were merely something he guessed at almost 3 years after the chase occurred; and those speeds obviously do not coincide with either the total distance covered in the time elapsed on the tape, or in Officer May's estimate of the total time of the chase. (Plaintiffs' Ex. 3 and R. Vol. 2 p. 31, 136-162)

the ramps of Interstate 20 and quickly come upon two more traffic controlled intersections.<sup>3</sup> (R. Vol. 2 p. 57-58)

Next, Officer May and Ms. Dearman cross the area of the ramps with Interstate 20, through yet another traffic controlled intersection at West and Gallatin as well as one at the I-20 ramps and Gallatin, at which time they embarked upon a part of Gallatin which Officer May testified was dangerous, due to its potholes and how bumpy it was. (Plaintiffs Ex. 1 & 5; R. Vol. 2 p. 57-58) At this point in the pursuit, Officer May testified that he did not remember which of the traffic controlled intersections they had just been through were red and which were green, but he acknowledged that they were not all green. (R. Vol. 2 p. 59) Also, Officer May acknowledged that, by this time, he knew that Ms. Dearman was not going to stop voluntarily, and he knew that there was no way for him to use the pursuit to get her stopped. (R. Vol. 2 p. 55-56)

At this time, Officer May's supervisor, Sgt. Campbell, instructed Officer May, if she started going through red lights, Officer May should let her go. (Plaintiffs' Ex. 3; R. Vol. 2 p. 60) In this regard, Officer May admitted that he never advised his supervisor that they had already done that. Neither did Officer May advise Sgt. Campbell that he knew exactly who it was that he was chasing, despite the fact that is an important consideration under the City of Jackson's pursuit policy. (Plaintiff's Ex. 4; R. Vol. 2 p. 60-61)

Next, the chase proceeded onto Interstate 55. However, as soon as they got on I-55, they got right back off at the Daniel Lake Boulevard esit. (Plaintiffs Ex. 1 & 5) At this point, Officer May

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>While Officer May initially admitted that the convenience stores in this area are open on Sundays, on examination by the Appellant, Officer May claimed to have noticed that each of the convenience stores just happened to be closed on the Sunday in question, and he was evidently able to notice this while driving 50 miles an hour through the area with a vehicle he was pursuing in front of him.

admitted that getting on the Interstate seemed like a reprieve from the bad roads, traffic controlled intersections and the driveways of stores abutting the roadway. (R. Vol. 2 p. 59-60). However, just as soon as they got on the Interstate, they got right back off and began heading right back into town into the same type areas all over again. (R. Vol. 2 p. 68-69) As a matter of fact, despite Sgt. Campbell's recent and explicit directive, they both proceeded through the busy intersection of Terry/Cooper/Daniel Lake without even noticing which color the light at the intersection may have been.<sup>4</sup> (R. Vol. 2 p. 69-71)

Officer May and Carol Dearman then proceeded South on Terry, then took an immediate right heading West on Dona Avenue. (Plaintiff's Ex. 1 & 5; R. Vol. 2 p. 71) At this juncture, Officer May admitted that he was well out of his assigned precinct, he had never been in this area, and he was completely unfamiliar with the roads and the area. However, he could see that it was a family neighborhood with a park, narrow streets, driveways directly abutting the roadway, and he fully expected to see children and cars emerging from driveways. (R. Vol. 2 p. 72-73) Due to these facts, Appellant would obviously love it if the pursuit had ended here. As a matter of fact, in two separate points in its brief, Appellant actually tries to lead this Court to believe that the pursuit ended here. (Appellant's Brief at p.5 & 24)

However, Officer May admitted that the only siren you hear on the tape of the pursuit is his siren, when he keys his radio. (R. Vol. 2 p. 47) In the tape, you can clearly hear Officer May's siren continuing through multiple streets thereafter, including on the street where the accident

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In his deposition, Officer May testified that he did not remember whether this light was red or green. At trial, however, Officer May tried to testify that this light was green. When reminded of his prior deposition testimony, however, Officer May admitted that he never actually noticed whether the light was red or green.(R. Vol. 2 p. 69-71)

ultimately occurred, and Officer May admitted that he did, in fact, have his siren going that entire time. (Plaintiffs' Ex. 3; R. Vol. 2 p. 25, 52, 70-77)

Accordingly, it is clear that the pursuit had not, in fact, terminated at this time. Nevertheless, Appellant proffers that, although Officer May still had his siren going, Ms. Dearman was still in his sight, and they were both still running red lights, this Court should determine that Officer May had somehow quasi-terminated the pursuit at this time; because Ms. Dearman was going so fast that Officer May could not keep up with her as closely and some sort of gap was being created between the two cars. However, creating some sort of unidentified gap is not even a quasitermination of a pursuit. Moreover, Officer May admitted that, due to his unfamiliarity with the area, he would not be able to call out the next street name until he could actually read the next street sign. (R. Vol. 2 p. 72-77) Dona Avenue is a distance of .7 miles, and Officer May called out the next street name of Meadow Lane 7 seconds after he called out Dona Avenue; and the remainder of the streets were called out just that quick, so we are certainly not talking about any large gap.5 (Plaintiffs Ex. 3; R. Vol. 3 p. 238) Further, whatever this gap is that they are trying to create, they both ran the next red light where Meadow Lane crosses back over Cooper Road. (R. Vol. 2 p. 76) Accordingly, whatever this gap is, Officer May completely and blatantly disregarded the direct order of his supervisor to let her go if she started going through red lights; and he did this knowing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Like changing his testimony about all of the stores being closed on Gallatin, Appellant also had Officer May testify that he *did not notice* any children playing in Levelwood Park on Dona Avenue. However, covering .7 of a mile in 7 seconds while trying to follow where Ms. Dearman may next turn and find the next street sign, it is doubtful Officer May could have noticed any children, unless they ran right out in front of him. Further, it only took Officer May 22 seconds between the time he called out Meadow Lane, ran the red light crossing Cooper Road and the time he called out Woody Avenue, and it only took 8 seconds between Woody Avenue and Monticello. (Plaintiffs' Ex. 3)

he did not know the area, and that it was a very dangerous area to conduct a chase, and he had no way of getting her stopped anyway, unless of course, she wrecked. Obviously, this asserted gap is nothing even remotely similar to a quasi termination of the pursuit, as Appellant seems to suggest.

About this same time, Officer Nash, who is actually from the precinct Officer May and Ms. Dearman are now in, and who is more familiar with the area, is heading West on McDowell Road. Officer Nash testified that he was fearful that there was about to be a "major catastrophe" if the chase emerged out of that neighborhood into the intersection of McDowell/McFadden/Brookwood.<sup>6</sup> (R.Vol.5 p 459) Officer Nash's supervisor had instructed him to stay out of the chase. However, Officer Nash believed that he had to try to do something to serve the public. (R.Vol.5 p 459)

Also, at this time, Eric and Kristina Law had just left their home on McDowell and are headed East on McDowell to go to the Subway on Terry Road to get something to eat before going on vacation. (R. Vol. 3 p. 250-254) Obviously, however, they do not have a police radio; and they know nothing about any chase going on in the area.

Accordingly, you now have Officer May and Carol Dearman headed North on Monticello toward McDowell<sup>7</sup>, Officer Nash heading West on McDowell where it intersects with these streets and who is fearful that a "major catastrophe" is about to occur at that intersection; and Eric and Kristina Law who are headed East on McDowell towards this intersection about to go get something to eat and go on vacation and who know nothing about what is about to come into this intersection.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Officer May left his precinct where McDowell meets Interstate 55.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Monticello changes its name to Brookwood before crossing McDowell and to McFadden after crossing McDowell. (Plaintiffs' Ex. 1 & 5; and R Vol. 2 p. 25)

As it turned out, Officer Nash was exactly right. At the seventh traffic controlled intersection through which the chase proceeded, Ms. Dearman ran the red light and slammed violently into the passenger side door causing the Law's vehicle to spin and the Jeep to flip several times. (Plaintiffs' Exs. 9-12).

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